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Category of Property
(Check only one box.)

Building(s) X

District

Site

Structure

Object

ildings

sites

structures

objects

1 0 Total

Number of contributing resources previously listed in the National Register

6. Function or Use
Historic Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

EDUCATION/ College

Section 7 page 3



Current Functions
(Enter categories from instructions.)

WORK IN PROGRESS

7. Description

Architectural Classification
(Enter categories from instructions.)
LATE VICTORIAN/ Renaissance/Renaissance Revival

of constructlon settlng, size, and significant features Indlcate whether the property has historic
integrity.)

Summary Paragraph

The Louisville College of Dentistry building is a Renaissance Revival building located at the
intersection of East Broadway and South Brook Street on the western edge of the current Louisville
medical district. The building is three stories tall and set on a raised stone basement. The first
floor is smooth stone with pressed brick on the upper floors. The front facade features a large
facing gable that looks over East Broadway and the east facade features a large band of windows
that once provided light for the infirmary. The building exterior is in excellent condition, featuring
most of the original materials, and is well known as the "dental school" because of the large name
plate on the front of the building.
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Narrative Description

Overview and Area Context

The Louisville College of Dentistry building is located on the northwest corner of South Brook
Street and East Broadway. Immediately to the west is Interstate-65, elevated above street level
and about twenty feet from the west facade of the building. To the south is East Broadway, a
seven-lane main thoroughfare that extends through the heart of Louisville. To the east is South
Brook Street, a four-lane cross street, which from the south has an exit lane from the Interstate.
To the north of the site is an alley that extends from South Brook Street to a parking lot located
underneath the elevated interstate.

The building occupies nearly the entire site, with a small parking lot at the rear allowing deliveries
to the back of the building. The power plant for the building is attached to the rear of the main
building and extends north to the alley. The other facades of the building are immediately adjacent
to the sidewalks along South Brook Street and East Broadway as well as a small walkway along
the west side of the building, which separates the building from the parking lot and elevated
interstate.
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East Broadway and is in the center of the
facade. The entrance features a large round
arch supported by pilaster capitals on either
side and is framed by stone pilasters on
stone bases. A shallow stone cornice is
supported by the pilasters and extends
across the opening just above the arch. The
top of the entrance cornice projects
outward, and a relief balustrade is set in the :
center with a set of double windows above. The frleze panel in the center of the balustrade features
"LOUISVILLE COLLEGE OF DENTISTRY" in stone. The original lanterns, which flanked the
entrance, are now missing.
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The first floor is covered in Bedford dressed stone with pedimented windows on either side of the
front entrance each featuring a round arch upper sash. The sills project and feature small
supporting stone brackets. The windows on the outside edges are much taller and feature only a
simple stone sill and no lintel or surround. The second floor is comprised of blonde pitched press
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bricks with matching brick quoins on the corners in an even lighter color. The lighter quoin bricks
are matched above the third floor, beneath the wood cornice, creating a brick frieze panel that
extends entirely around the building.

East facade
The east facade is nine bays long
with the end bays slightly
projecting. Most of the bays
feature double sets of windows,
though the first floor features a
solid band of eighteen windows. .
The elevated basement is I P L}e "y n
rusticated stone with a more s {5 40 2% :
101770449 14114 |

modern rusticated stone infill
where the original basement
windows were located. These
infilled openings still retain the
original stone s

dividers | een the fesf of ndowis.
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e above

Tk eade is ag ably & :
The raised basement is still rusticated stone, but there is a set to stairs
down to the basement level as well as a ramp, which are undoubtedly
a result of the American with Disabilities Act. The upper floors are
all red brick with simple windows featuring stone sills and no lintels.
The cornice is a basic wood box gutter that is positioned beneath the
dentils on the primary wood cornice, which slightly wraps around
the rear edge of the building. The lower attachment of the box gutter
reflects the sloping roof concealed by the cornice parapet. A large
fire escape is attached to the middle of the building.

A single-story building is attached to the northwest corner of the - e
building, extending to the north. This building contains the power plant and all of the original
utility and mechanical systems. Itappears that the windows have been changed and were originally
large wood windows rather than the current narrower aluminum windows. The foundation of this
rear addition is poured concrete rather than the rusticated stone found elsewhere.

N TN )
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This rear building replaced the original coal shed and iron clad outhouse, which ran along the north
side of the site, immediately adjacent to the alley. The original buildings created a small courtyard
at the rear, which opened onto S. Brook Street. The area was reconfigured with the new addition
in the 1940s and new ramps and entrances were created at the rear.

West Facade

The west facade faces the interstate. The south side of the facade is similar to the front facade
with a Bedford dressed stone first floor and blonde pitched press brick on the second and third
floors that extends as far as the first bay. Unlike the east fagade, the first and last bay do not project
out at all. The cornice matches the east facade and extends the entire length of the facade. The
rest of the facade is red brick with simple window openings that feature stone sills and segmented
arch lintels. The foundation is rusticated stone and the original windows remain, though metal
grids have been placed in front of them in an attempt to restrict access. A number of the first-floor
windows have been replaced with modern aluminum windows and the openings significantly
lowered. The original size is still visible because the replacement bricks are a poor match.

Alterations
After the College of Dentistry moved the building was converted to offices and vanous smaller

intact with all materials and 1nter10r wmdows
remaining. The first-floor front offices remain as well
as the main staircase, though it has been enclosed to
create a rated egress and the original banister has been
removed. All of the primary windows are original and
a large number of the secondary windows, which are
located mostly in the power plant at the rear of the
building or along the first level of the west facade
(which looks beneath the interstate).

The exterior of the building has only suffered minor
changes. At some point a fire escape system was
added to the rear facade, the basement windows were
blocked in, and the front door was changed. Aside
from these alterations the building exterior appears almost identical to the day it was first occupied.
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ted completel
has nearly no rust, separation, or deterioration. The cornice is planned to be cleaned anc
repainted.

The interior was exceptionally divided. During demolition it was discovered that nearly every
single interior wall had been removed during previous renovations. The amount of new
construction almost completely concealed the space, including the length of the first floor and
the height of the space.
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the non-historic walls were removed, revealing the full height and length of the
space.
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stalrcase At the bottom turn the stairs extended out w1th rounded corners to reconnect back to
the lower wall. At the base of the primary flight was a tall newel post with a turned top and inset
paneling. Along the wall on the opposite side was a chair mold that followed the contour of the
staircase and connected to the break-through point of the stairs.

All of the defining features of the staircase were removed when the dental school moved from
the building. The banister, spindles, newel post, extended lower treads, brackets, chair rail, and
tread nosing were all removed from the stairs. At the time current code required a fire rated
egress, which meant the staircase was completely enclosed and segmented by levels. While the
actual stairs remained for moving people, the rest of the defining features were lost.
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the main structural beam of the building. The skylight provided  third floor. It is assumed the skylight provided light to an

light to an instruction lab below. an instruction area, though it is not entirely clear which area
specifically
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Throughout the building there are columns supporting the main beam on each floor. These
columns are all regularly spaced and on the first and second floors have relatively omate capitals.
In the basement and on the third floor the columns appear to have been less ornate.

PRUATBLTIC TABUKATORY FUK 1P FRESHMAN (LASSEAPACTTY 10 STHIEXTS

Original basement columns and beam.
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The columns and beam through the first floor.
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8. Statement of Significance

Applicable National Register Criteria
(Mark "x" in one or more boxes for the criteria qualifying the property for National Register
listing.)

x| A. Property is associated with events that have made a significant contribution to the
broad patterns of our history.

B. Property is associated with the lives of persons significant in our past.

C. Property embodies the distinctive characteristics of a type, period, or method of
construction or represents the work of a master, or possesses high artistic values,
or represents a significant and distinguishable entity whose components lack
individual distinction.

D. Property has yielded, or is likely to yield, information important in prehistory or
history.

religi urposes

C. A birthplace or grave

D. A cemetery

E. A reconstructed building, object, or structure

F. A commemorative property

G. Less than 50 years old or achieving significance within the past 50 years

Areas of Significance

(Enter categories from instructions.)

_EDUCATION
HEALTH/MEDICINE
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Period of Significance
1900-1970

Significant Dates
1900

Significant Person
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Statement of Significance Summary Paragraph (Provide a summary paragraph that includes
level of significance, applicable criteria, justification for the period of significance, and any
applicable criteria considerations.)

The Louisville College of Dentistry is significant under Criterion A, for its association with the
development of dental education and professional practice in Louisville, Kentucky. The college
was one of the first professional schools in the country and developed admissions requirements, a
curriculum, research resources, and clinical models that were well ahead of the typical dental
education at the time. The standards the college helped establish were employed elsewhere in
establishing dental schools across the country. The period of significance is 1900 to 1970. This
covers the original construction of the building through when the college moved out and the
building was converted to medical office space.

Narrative Statement of Significance (Provide at least one paragraph for each area of
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quite painfully) by physicians of the day or could be executed very quickly by the barber-surgeon
practitioners. Though after care may have suffered, the quick removal of a painful tooth was
preferred by many, and so there was a further separation between dental and medical practices.

Dental or Medical Education?

Dental education followed a similar divide as dental and medical practice. There is debate about
whether the medical community refused to accept the dentists, or the dentists refused to join the
medical community. Early on medical schools made clear they were unwilling to devote the
necessary resources, specifically money and space, to teaching dentistry, which required
significantly more mechanical and technical training.® At the same time the dental community
felt, "dentistry [is] altogether too large to be made the tail end of the kite of medical practice."®

! Marilyn J. Field, Editor, Dental Education at the Crossroads: Challenges and Change, Committee on the Future of Dental
Education, Institute of Medicine, 1995, 38.

? William J. Gies, Dental Education in the United States and Canada, 1926, 6.

3 Maurice David Kaufman Bremner, The Story of Dentistry From the Dawn of Civilization to the Present: With Special Emphasis
On the American Scene. Rev. 3rd ed. Brooklyn, N.Y.: Dental Items of Interest Publishing Co., 1954, 56.

41d.at77.

5 Field, supra at 40.

6 Sissman, 1971.
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The result of this divide was that dental education pursued an independent path from medical
schools. By 1865 there were only four dental schools in the United States and none of them were
attached to existing medical schools.” At the same time that the dental community was struggling
to remain friendly with the medical community, the practicing dental community was finding it
difficult to accommodate the dental educational community. With only a handful of schools
available, most aspiring dentists found it more practical and cheaper to apprentice.? By 1870 only
15% of the 8,000 practicing dentists in the United States were graduates of a dental school.® The
vast majority had trained as apprentices or were simply self-proclaimed dentists.

Formal Education

Formalized dental education followed the
same well-worn path as law, medicine, and

Though only four schools had existed in 1865, by 1884 there were an additional twelve schools,
nine of which were attached to universities.!! Once there were a sufficient number of schools that
aspiring dentists could reasonably be expected to attend one, states began to step into the industry
more forcefully. Many states allowed graduates of dental schools to begin practice immediately
without further examination.!? This resulted in a large number of private and for-profit schools
suddenly emerging. By 1900 there were 57 dental schools in the United States and 60% of dentists
were graduates of a school.”® By the mid-1920s less than 5% of practicing dentists were without
a degree.!

Unfortunately, as in many rapidly growing industries, the initial growth is unworthy of the
professed standards, which justified their creation in the first place. As one practitioner described
the impact of these schools: "[they led] to the disgrace of the profession and to the dishonor of

7 Field, supra at 40.

8 McCluggage, 1959, p. 163.

? Field, supra at 40.

19 Gies at 7.

" Field, supra at 41.

12 Gies, supra at 44.

12 Seccombe, Wallace. Survey of the Dental Curriculum. The Journal of Higher Education, vol. 3, no. 5, 1932, pp. 241.
14 Gies, supra at45.
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dental education. Many of the dental schools chartered since 1884 have been . . . completely
worthless."!5

To remedy this problem state laws began to change and require that anybody entering the practice
of dentistry pass a standardized examination. The ability to take these exams were often restricted
to "reputable” schools, which was intended to exclude graduates of the for-profit schools. This
change stemmed the tide of new schools popping up and caused many schools to lose their charters.
Between 1902 and 1905 22 schools in Illinois alone lost their charters.’® The more rigorous
oversight of graduates entering the profession also caused schools to require more equipment,
professors, and space, which made the for-profit schools thoroughly non-profitable.!”

The Flexner Report

In 1910 the Camegie Foundation published the Flexner Report. It was intended to examine
professional medical education in the United States. The findings of the Flexner Report had a
dramatic 1mpact at the time and are st111 shaping profess1ona1 education today. The report called

The Gies Report

In 1926 the Carnegie Foundation funded a tenth report, similar to the Flexner Report, that focused
specifically on dental education. The report was completed by William Gies, a Columbia
University professor with a specific interest in dental research.!® Gies provided lengthy evaluations
of each existing dental school and traveled to tour every single one of them. He reviewed the
entire dental education system and devised five conclusions. First, dental schools deserved
university attention and were not trade schools or profit centers. They should be ranked as an oral
specialty of medicine, though autonomous, because of the mechanical emphasis. Second, dental
professors should be paid properly to attract the best in the field on a full-time basis and allow
them to teach and research and not be dependent on their practices. Third, pre-dental education
should match pre-medical education at the university level. The education should promote
scientific inquiry and place pre-dental students on the same academic level as pre-medical
students. Fourth, repetitive classes should be moved to the preprofessional level and redundant

15 Gies, supra at 28.
16 Field, supra at 42.
1d. at42.
181d. at 44,
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courses should be eliminated to allow the dental professional course to take three years instead of
four. Specialization should be reserved for postdoctoral study. Fifth, a full-year graduate course
should be provided for all specialties in oral science and art, including practice, public health,
teaching, and investigation.®

Gies noted specifically in his report that most dental programs, though attached to universities, did
not share any of those benefits. They were excluded from endowments or similar income streams;
their instructors were part-time and poorly compensated. There were no meaningful libraries, no
graduate work, no research, little connection to the medical schools, no financial assistance for
students, and no efforts to direct graduates into communities needing dental service.?

Impact of Flexner and Gies Reports

By the time the Gies Report was published a good number of its recommendations were already
well underway. Only three for-profit schools remained open.?! Many poorly run schools that were
producmg poorly trained graduates were already closing their doors. The simple economic reality

performmg the vast majonty of research (Wthh 1ncluded the University of Louisville). At first it
mostly fell to the American Dental Association to create grants and encourage research and later
the National Institutes of Health played a strong role in funding and encouraging research.

Despite the attempt at emphasizing research and creating new avenues and funding sources it was
still a relatively small portion of most schools well into the 1940s. In 1941 the ADA's Council on
Dental Education required schools to conduct research, but only about half of the existing schools
applied for additional funds to conduct research, revealing how stubborn the dental education
community was toward the field. It was not until the 1950s, when additional researchers were
employed and significantly more funding became available, that helpful and rigorous research
within the field began to occur.

Summary of Development

19 Field, supra at 44,
0 Gies, supra at 246,
2 Field, supra at 46,
% Gies, supra at 51. The original six schools were Califomnia, Michigan, Minnesota, Pennsylvania, Harvard, and Iowa.
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Between 1840 and 1940 the role of dental education changed substantially. An industry that had
begun with apprentices as a sideline to medicine developed into a sophisticated healthcare
component. Dentistry succeeded in establishing safeguards for the population and protection for
the profession by licensing professionals, requiring degrees from accredited schools, standardizing
knowledge and practices, and developing a field of dedicated research. This effort caused the
creation of dozens of schools and then their collapse, expanded university offerings and
affiliations, and lifted the practice of dentistry well above the original barbershop.

DENTISTRY IN LOUISVILLE, KENTUCKY 1840 TO 1890

Louisville was similar to many cities prior to the profession of dentistry formalizing. Dentists
advertised in newspapers and on signs and occasionally in directories. The entire city had fourteen
listed dentists in 1861 and they all worked within nearly three blocks of each other in the central
busmess district.2 There was no hstlng for any dental school or advertlsmg for any form of
eship or othef educat E e de : 2

beglnnmg with only a small ad in 1830 by a Dr Clute, who malntamed the same postage stamp
advertisement in the classified section of the paper on a weekly basis for nearly a decade before
anybody else considered the practice.?’

Some of the stories of the time corroborate the Gies Report, to be completed decades later, stating
"the professional of dentistry is perhaps more largely infested with quackery than most other
professions."?® But the profession still was viewed as vital to the health of the population and
research was important, again as the Gies Report would later make clear. In 1855 a local dentist,
Dr. Culver, was promoted by the Daily Courier for a talk on his research into the "First and Second
Dentition, their diseases and treatment."? In Louisville, well before there was a formal institute
for teaching and research, the local dental field was already investing in better understanding the
science that underpinned their work.

2 Caron’s Directory of Louisville, 1861.
24 Caron’s Directory of Louisville, 1871.
25 Caron’s Directory of Louisville, 1881.
% Caron’s Directory of Louisville 1890.

e Da11y Courier, Loulsv1lle KY Dec. 2 1854: 4.
 Daily Courier, Louisville, KY, Jan. 3, 1855: 3.
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In 1867 the Central States Dental Society met in Louisville for several days of proceedings. The
proceedings began with the expulsion of a member, an early attempt at self-governance, and were
followed by a presentation on the history of dentistry in the United States.?® The dentists' state
association had begun the year by asking the legislature to regulate the profession and prevent
those without competence from practicing, as it resulted in hundreds of people being maimed each
year.3! Several laws were passed, but in 1878 the state legislature criminalized the unlicensed
practice of dentistry, a strong step toward protecting the public and no doubt the profession as
well. 3

There must have been some level of relief when a formal College of Dentistry was founded. The
city embraced the College of Dentistry and its classes quickly grew in size.3

HISTORY OF LOUISVILLE COLLEGE OF DENTISTRY

Creation Within Hospital College of Medicine

he first class

ated in Ju

In 1899 the dental school was sold to the dental faculty to operate as an independent dental
college.® The new faculty purchased a lot on the northwest corner of Brook Street and Broadway
and constructed a new independent and dedicated dental school building.

Independence Means a New Building, and a New Curriculum

The Building

On April 24, 1900, the trustees of Central University of Kentucky announced that work was set to
begin on a new Louisville College of Dentistry building. The planned location, on the northwest
corner of Brook Street and Broadway, was praised as an accessible location to the car lines and
connections and yet far enough from the commercial core of the city to be appropriate for a

30 Daily Courier, Louisville, KY, Dec. 29, 1867: 1.

3! The Louisville Daily Journal, Louisville, KY, Jan. 8, 1867: 2.

32 Peabody, F., Courier-Journal, Louisville, KY Apr. 19, 1878: 2.

33 Courier-Journal, Louisville, KY, Jan. 29, 1890: 6.

34 Announcement, Louisville College of Dentistry, Inc., College Press, John P. Morton and Company, Louisville, KY. 1903, p. 4.
35 https://louisville.edu/dentistry/about/history. Accessed 6/8/2021.

36 Announcement, supra.
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school.3” It was planned that the building would be ready for occupancy on October 10, 1900.38
By May 13, 1900, work had begun on the new building.

The new building was completed in 1900 and provided for all the needs of a new and rigorous
course of instruction. When it opened on December 13, 1900, the Courier-Journal proclaimed it
to have cost over $100,000 and "to be one of most modern and thoroughly equipped dental colleges
in the country."?® At its opening there were eighteen faculty members as well as fifteen instructors
and eight recitation masters.*

The basement contained a prosthetic
technic laboratory with space for
135 students and adjoining rooms
containing a lathe, forge, and
plastering rooms. The basement
also contained locker rooms for all
of the students.

On the second floor are the practical
laboratory, the impression, crown, and plate rooms, all adjoining, as well as a dark room for
examination, photography, and fluoroscopic work.

37 Work is Begun, COURIER-JOURNAL, (May 13, 1900).

38 Site Selected, CourIER-JOURNAL, (April 24, 1900).

39 Doors to New Dental College Will be Thrown Open Today, CoURIER-JOURNAL, (Dec. 13, 1900).
Y.
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The third floor contains the library, reading room, and museum. The library and museum were
given extra importance as means of research and reflecting the sophistication of the college. At
the rear of the third floor is the clinical amphitheater, with a 9' pitched floor, a general lecture room
with a capacity of 360 students, an operative technic room at the front of the building, and
laboratories behind it, with a large exhaust vent through the roof.
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1905 Sanborn Map showing new school building in the lower rtght corner.
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Basement level with photographs from opening brochure.
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2nd Floor with photographs from the opening brochure. The wall locations are estimates.
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3rd Floor with estimated walls based on photographs from the opening brochure.

Admissions
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With a new building and additional space
available it would have been easy to allow in
students who were academically subpar and still
charge them full tuition. There was certainly
sufficient demand at that point. The college
chose to go in a different direction. Following
the guidelines of the National Association of
Dental Faculties, admission was restricted to
those who had at least a certificate of entrance
into the third year of a high school or its
equivalent.* This helped to ensure that most of
those attending were capable of graduating and
passing licensing exams, keeping the alumni of ERi EER
the school in the upper echelons of practice, and generally in the hlgh esteem of their colleagues
Italso helped to ensure that public statistics, such as graduation rates and exam pass rates, remained
high, building trust in the school and its graduates.

The College of Dentistry had good reason to maintain and raise their standards. It was clear to the
leaders of the school that states were raising their standards and beginning to require that even
dental school graduates pass licensing exams. Louisville attracted a number of students from other
states and often sent them back after graduation.
It would have severely undermined the school’s
reputation if its graduates were unable to sit for
exams or pass them. In many states such a
scenario would render the degree entirely
worthless.¥®  Eventually this would have a
negative impact on funding for the school and
would cause a drop in class size, which would
further the downward spiral. It was easier to
create high standards and match them then to
attempt only the minimum and be found lacking.

Curriculum

LCHEMICAL LABORATORY —THE DRUG-ROUM Lo Tk SHDE,

4 Announcement, supra at 42,
2Hd.

3 Field, supra at 4.
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The course of instruction was expanded dramatically from when the school was run with the
hospital. The new curriculum was based on the recognition that "dentistry is both a science and a
healing art."#

First year classes covered anatomy, osteology and dissection, physiology, chemistry, an in-organic
and laboratory class, metallurgy, dental anatomy, prosthetic technics, histology, didactic and
laboratory, general materia medica, operative technics, pharmacology, and hygiene.*

Second year classes were even more comprehensive. Classes included anatomy, regional,
comparative, and dissection, physiology, chemistry, organic chemistry and laboratory, metallurgy
(didactic and laboratory), general and dental materia medica, bacteriology (didactic and
laboratory), operative dentistry (didactic and clinical), orthodontia technics, prosthetic dentistry
(didactic and laboratory), crown and bridge work (didactic and laboratory), dental pathology,
orthodontia (didactic), physics, porcelain dental art, embryology, oral surgery, oral diseases,
anesthesia, and technics (prosthetic and operative).*

College of Dentlstry was already well ahead of the times. Its faculty was full time and professional
and was expert in all of the topics of dental education and practice at the time. The resources of
the college were expansive, with dedicated facilities, complete and modern equipment, and space
to operate and learn. The school maintained a relationship with Central University until 1918,
when they were absorbed into the University of Louisville's School of Medicine. The constructed
library was sufficient to contain 7,00 to 8,000 volumes and was expanding. There was also a
separate museum, on the third floor with the library and reading room, to reflect the
accomplishments of the profession as well as the school.

By 1907 the quality of the school was apparent. The large infirmary, with more than one hundred
chairs, was insufficient to keep pace with the number of Louisville residents seeking treatment.
The result of this massive influx of patients was high quality clinical experience for the students,
who came to see nearly every malady that could be presented to them.

Absorption into the University of Louisville

4 Announcement, supra at 6.
45 Announcement, supra at 44,
“Id.

47 Announcement, supra at 45,
‘M.
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In 1908 the Hospital College of Medicine, the origin of the College of Dentistry, was absorbed by
the University of Louisville School of Medicine. Ten years later, in 1918, the University of
Louisville bought all of the equipment of the College of Dentistry and folded the operation in the
university. This ended the college's association with Central University. A few years later, in
1923, the University of Louisville purchased the College of Dentistry building from W.E. Grant
for $60,000.# The building was retained without additions or alterations as it was filled with a
significant amount of equipment and still met the College of Dentistry's needs.

Over the next several decades the school grew steadily, graduating more students and sending graduates to
more states to practice. In 1921 the school had 132 students pursuing a doctoral degree;® in 1971 the
student body roughly doubled to 271 students seeking a doctoral degree.®  Graduation rates remained
strong, which was a key component to the Class A rating the school had received. The school also added
a program in dental hygiene, expanding the practice of dentistry beyond doctors and expanding the ability
of the profession to provide service to the general public.

The Gies Report provided dental schools with a clear st of criteria upon which they could be measured

was 1ntended to prov1de funding to schools in need and facmg accreditation problems if they were
not updated.® A year later the school received an additional $840,000 from the same fund, which
allowed the new building, to be finished in the fall of 1970, to be one of the most modern and
streamlined buildings when it was completed. The new building was an integral part of the new
University of Louisville Medical Complex, created by combining the Schools of Medicine,
Nursing, Dentistry, and allied health professions.

After the retirement of Dean Raymond E. Myers, in 1969, the original dental building was named
in his honor.

Evaluation of Integrity of the Louisville College of Dentistry in its Current Condition

4 U. of L. Purchases Dentistry Building, COURIER-JOURNAL, (July 1, 1923).

50 Journal of the American Medical Association, Volume 81, p. 681.

5! Annual Report; Dental Education. (1971). United States: Division of Educational Measurements, Council on
Dental Education, American Dental Association.

32 Gies, supra at 352.

3 U of L Dental School Gets $1.8 Million, COURIER-JOURNAL, (July 20, 1968).
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Location
The building location has not changed. Itis still located on the northwest corner of East Broadway
and South Brook Streets.

Setting

The building was originally constructed near the medical campus that the city was creating to the
east of the downtown core with the help of investment from several universities. When the
building was first constructed it was described as sufficiently downtown to be well connected and
accessible and yet not so close to the downtown core to be an appropriate location for a school.
That description can still apply today. Though the interstate is a new addition to the immediate
vicinity, the commercial core of downtown is still several blocks away and the original medical
complex has grown significantly but is still located immediately to the east of the dental building
and the east of downtown.

When the interstate was constructed the neighboring building, which was at that point the
Broadway Baptist Church Education Building, was demolished. The Broadway Baptist Church to
the west was also demolished leaving the highway tightly contained between the College of
Dentistry and the Louisville Presbyterian Theological Seminary (National Register #78001362).

altered
viously

3 sidewalk to th of the
: § He : 2EN M i tions have sngful
impact on any understanding of the building. The interior materials remain along the exterior
walls, the ceilings, much of the floors, and in a select few places such as support column capitals
and structural beams that were previously covered. Original interior walls have been mostly
removed, or at least have not been found during exploratory demolition.

Workmanship

The exterior workmanship remains in its entirety reflecting construction techniques and styles at
the beginning of the twentieth century. The exterior materials need cleaning but are otherwise
completely intact. The interior workmanship is still visible around most of the windows as well
as the center structural beam, which runs the entire length of the building. Unfortunately, much
of the other materials have been covered or destroyed.

Feeling

The interior of the building lacks the feeling of a medical and educational building, but
interestingly, because the current modern medical district begins on the east side of South Brook
Street, the feeling from the exterior is very much that the building is a part of the medical and
educational community. The development around the building is still mostly in scale with when
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the building was constructed, giving the sense that the area is still appropriate for schools and is
not within the current commercial core of downtown.

The elevated highway to the west of the building has an impact on the feeling, though the two
primary facades are less impacted than the west fagade, which directly faces the highway.

Association

The existing building still maintains a strong association with the development of dental education
in Louisville. The original name plate still labels the building as the Louisville College of
Dentistry and its location still ensures that thousands of people see it every day and know its
association. Interestingly, the modern dentistry building is located in the interior of the medical
district and is not nearly as visible or easily found.

DRAFT
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Photographs
Submit clear and descriptive photographs. The size of each image must be 1600x1200 pixels
(minimum), 3000x2000 preferred, at 300 ppi (pixels per inch) or larger. Key all photographs
to the sketch map. Each photograph must be numbered and that number must correspond to
the photograph number on the photo log. For simplicity, the name of the photographer,
photo date, etc. may be listed once on the photograph log and doesn’t need to be labeled on
every photograph.

Photo Log

Name of Property: Louisville College of Dentistry

City or Vicinity: Louisville

County: Jefferson State: Kentucky
Photographer: Joseph C. Pierson

Date Photographed: 3/12/2021

Front fagade facing south toward East Broadway. Interstate 65 is located on the left and
South Brook Street is located on the right.
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North fagade, which looks into a small loading zone at the rear of the building.
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The main corridor on the first floor, facing south from the rear of the building toward the front of
the building. The walls, floors, ceilings, and doors are all non-historic. This space was
originally the large open infirmary.
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The front entrance, facing down the interior steps to the front doors. The doors are non-
historic, but the arched window is original as well as all the interior materials and
configuration.
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An interior corridor on the second floor. The conditions are typical of the rest of the building
with all of the historic materials hidden behind non-historic materials.
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The southeast corner of the second floor, where the ceiling was removed to determine the
extent of historic materials beneath. The original plaster ceiling was mostly removed when
the ceiling height was lower significantly. The walls beneath the non-historic ceilings were
furred out to run electrical, plumbing, and HVAC system components.
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The staircase from the third floor facing south and down to the second floor. The staircase is
original, but none of the materials are original and the original materials beneath the carpet
are not original either. Unfortunately most of the historic staircase was lost when the

building changed use and the staircase needed to be rated for code reasons.
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Basement corridor, facing south from the rear of the building. The rooms on the left are
sound booths and the rooms on the right are offices.
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The second basement corridor, facing north toward the rear of the building. The west side
corridor is primarily office oriented with the sound booths on the other side of the building.
15 of 31.
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The first floor, facing south toward the front of the building. The initial framing has begun for
the first floor corridor. The ceilings and floors have not been completed yet.
19 of 31.
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The boiler room at the rear of the basement in the northwest corner. The existing boilers were
removed and the non-historic walls removed around the space.
310f 31.
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Tier 1 - 60-100 hours
Tier 2~ 120 hours
Tier 3 - 230 hours
Tier 4 — 280 hours

The above estimates include time for reviewing instructions, gathering and maintaining data, and preparing and transmitting

nominations. Send comments regarding these estimates or any other aspect of the requirement(s) to the Service Information
Collection Clearance Officer, National Park Service, 1201 Oakridge Drive Fort Collins, CO 80525.
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